In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals



THE FAMILY FEDERATION FOR WORLD PEACE AND UNIFICATION INTERNATIONAL, et al.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

ν.

HYUN JIN MOON, et al.,

Defendants-Appellees.

On Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court, (Case No. 2011 CA 003721 B)

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

*CATHY A. HINGER (D.C. No. 473697)
VICTORIA A. BRUNO (D.C. No. 484197)
LELA M. AMES (D.C. No. 976497)
JASMINE CHALASHTORI (D.C No. 1016225)
WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP
2001 K Street, NW, Suite 400 South
Washington, DC 20006
Tel: (202) 467-6900
cathy.hinger@wbd-us.com
victoria.bruno@wbd-us.com
lela.ames@wbd-us.com
jasmine.chalashtori@wbd-us.com

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Since 2011, Family Federation for World Peace and Unification International ("Family Federation"), led by its founder Reverend Sun Myung Moon ("Rev. Moon") and his wife Dr. Hak Ja Han Moon ("Mrs. Moon"), together with Plaintiffs The Holy Spirit Association for the Unification of World Christianity (Japan), now known as Family Federation for World Peace and Unification Japan ("UCJ"), and the Universal Peace Federation ("UPF") (collectively, "Plaintiffs"), have been pursuing justice after Hyun Jin "Preston" Moon ("Preston Moon") and his codefendants breached their fiduciary duties to the Unification Church's financial support organization, Unification Church International ("UCI"). Defendants fraudulently wrested power over UCI, colluded to loot Church assets worth \$3 billion from UCI, and then funneled them through a convoluted web of nonreligious, international shell companies for personal gain. These assets represented the legacy of the Unification Church and a lifetime of sacrifices by many thousands of members. A church victimized by fraud of this magnitude should not be denied any remedy, but that is what the trial court did on remand from Moon v. Family Fed'n for World Peace and Unification Int'l, 281 A.3d 46 (D.C. 2022) ("Moon III").

Moon III's abstention rulings did not end this case. This court remanded for the trial court to consider unadjudicated self-dealing and breach of contract theories.

Id. at 70-71. And, seemingly bothered by the potential injustice of absolute

abstention, this court invoked the Supreme Court's strong suggestion that there is a fraud or collusion exception ("Exception") to religious abstention, implying it may be applicable here. *Id.* This court even expressed "[Plaintiffs] have alleged what amounts to a claim of fraud and/or collusion, which may yet be a justiciable claim that does not require delving into religious questions," and instructed the trial court that "whether there is a fraud or corruption exception" and whether there is evidence to support the self-dealing claim" are for "the trial court to address in the first instance." *Id.* In *Moon III*, this court decided not to deny Plaintiffs a remedy and instead remanded for consideration of the Exception and remaining claims on the merits. But the trial court frustrated the purpose of the remand by brushing aside the Exception as "immaterial" and dismissing all claims with prejudice.

First, the trial court refused to adjudicate the self-dealing and contract claims on the merits, even though these claims do not concern disputes over religious leadership, faith, or doctrine. They involve property claims and actions, not beliefs, which could and should have been adjudicated on remand based on neutral principles of fiduciary and contract law. This court should reverse on these grounds alone.

Second, the trial court failed to decide whether an Exception to religious abstention based on fraud, collusion, or corruption exists. By failing to answer this question, the trial court in effect handed Defendants absolute immunity for misconduct for which everyone else in civil society must be accountable.

Defendants' successful manipulation of the religious abstention doctrine sets a dangerous precedent that will encourage others to follow Preston Moon's stratagem of concealing secular wrongdoing behind a religious smokescreen. If not reversed, the trial court's rulings will encourage bad actors to fraudulently misappropriate assets from religious organizations with impunity by manufacturing defenses sounding in religious conflicts. Indeed, this court long ago cautioned against a result that would "approach granting immunity." *Family Fed'n for World Peace and Unification Int'l v. Moon*, 129 A.3d 235, 253 (D.C. 2015) ("Moon I").

Finding that the Exception exists is also imperative to uphold religious organizations' First Amendment rights to equal access to public benefits, here, the courts, especially when victimized by fraudulent misconduct of such enormous magnitude. Finding that the Exception exists also will ensure that, in this instance, principles of abstention are not favored over Plaintiffs' competing First Amendment rights to hierarchical deference with respect to use of Church property. This court should not allow the First Amendment to become an impenetrable shield from liability for those who engage in fraudulent or corrupt conduct. Yet, that is what the trial court's Orders did, inverting the balance of constitutional considerations: immunity for fraudulent actors at the expense of religious organizations' constitutional rights. Accordingly, this court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1), this court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' appeal of the following final D.C. Superior Court Orders: (1) August 28, 2023 Order granting Preston Moon's Post-Remand Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing ("Standing Order"); (2) July 6, 2023 Order granting the Director Defendants' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings ("Director Defendants Order"); (3) June 15, 2023 Order granting UCI's Motion for Summary Judgment on Counts IV, V, and VI ("UCI Summary Judgment Order"); and (4) August 11, 2023 Order ("Discovery Order") denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Reopen Discovery, to Designate Fraud or Collusion Expert Out of Time, and for Evidentiary Hearing ("Motion to Reopen") (collectively, "Orders").

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether this court should find the fraud, collusion, or corruption Exception to religious abstention exists and applies to the claims in this case.
- 2. Whether this court should vacate the Standing Order granting Preston Moon's motion to dismiss for lack of standing ("Motion to Dismiss"), and remand the self-dealing claims against him with instructions to resolve them on the merits.
- 3. Whether this court should vacate the Director Defendants Order granting Defendants Jinman Kwak, Youngjun Kim, Michael Sommer, and Richard Perea's ("Director Defendants") motion for judgment on the pleadings, and remand

the self-dealing claims against them with instructions to resolve them on the merits.

- 4. Whether this court should vacate the Summary Judgment Order granting UCI's Motion for Summary Judgment on Counts IV, V, and VI ("Contract Claims"), and remand with instructions to resolve the Contract Claims on the merits.
- 5. Whether this court should vacate the Discovery Order, grant Plaintiffs' Motion to Reopen as to limited discovery from Preston Moon and designation of a fraud and collusion expert, and instruct the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing on the Exception.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Plaintiffs' Historical Background And Nature Of Claims.

In 1954, Rev. Moon founded the Holy Spirit Association for the Unification of World Christianity, later renamed Family Federation, and known as the Unification Church. (JA.2357-58.) Rev. Moon served as the Church's spiritual and hierarchical leader until his passing in 2012. (*See id.*; JA.1166.) As it grew under Rev. Moon's leadership, the Church established religious institutions worldwide, including UCJ, as well as nonprofit organizations, including UPF. (JA.189-90.) Rev. Moon directed the establishment of Unification Church International, a District of Columbia nonprofit, charitable corporation, to support and fund the Unification Church and related endeavors. (JA.2372-73.) For decades, UCJ made donations to Unification Church International to support Church activities. (JA.1157; JA.2358.)

Beginning in the late 1990s, Rev. Moon appointed Preston Moon to various leadership positions within the Church, including a 2006 appointment as Unification Church International's President and Chairman. (JA.197; JA.1008; JA.2361.) In the years that followed, Rev. Moon lost confidence in Preston Moon and instructed him to resign from all his positions. (JA.2367; JA.2371.) Preston Moon did not resign, and instead colluded with the Director Defendants to corruptly take control of the nonprofit's board, changed the name to UCI to disassociate it from the Unification Church, and pillaged \$3 billion worth of Church assets for personal gain. (See infra, Statement of Facts ("SOF").) At Rev. Moon's direction, Plaintiffs sued in 2011 to challenge Preston Moon and the Director Defendants' egregious misappropriation of Church assets.

II. After Moon III, The Self-Dealing And Contract Claims Remained Live.

Count II alleges, in part, that Preston Moon and the Director Defendants engaged in self-dealing by: (1) causing a UCI subsidiary to purchase a property from an entity ultimately owned and controlled by Preston Moon for \$5.9 million – more

_

¹ The trial court relied on historic book value of \$467,427,708 (JA.2404), but market value is much higher. The Central City asset sold for nearly \$1 billion in 2012 (JA.2438), and one of the Parc1 towers recently sold for nearly \$900 million. (https://www.creherald.com/ara-acquires-landmark-office-tower-in-seoul-korea-for-us897m/ (Oct. 11, 2020 (reporting sale of one of the Parc1 towers for \$897 million).) *See Christopher v. Aguigui*, 841 A.2d 310, 312 (D.C. 2003) (citing *Ieradi v. Mylan Lab'ys Inc.*, 230 F.3d 594, 598 n.2 (3d Cir. 2000) (showing courts may take judicial notice of media articles)). Taken together with the other assets diverted from UCI, the total value is likely closer to \$3 billion. (JA.1203.)

than fair market value (JA.129); and (2) causing another UCI subsidiary to enter into a \$120,000 per month consulting agreement with an entity owned by Preston Moon. (JA.198.) The self-dealing claims also include: (1) the massive transfer of UCI's most valuable assets to a Swiss entity, Kingdom Investments Foundation ("KIF"), which Plaintiffs learned of in discovery and which the trial court found, in an earlier ruling, fell within Count II (JA.503-04); and (2) over \$62 million of transfers to Preston Moon's UPF rival entity, Global Peace Foundation ("GPF") (JA.2419.) In the remedies phase, the trial court noted other instances of apparent self-dealing: (1) UCI wired \$1 million into Preston Moon's bank account to discharge a specious \$500,000 loan with a usurious 25% interest rate to an individual who became a key director of KIF (JA.603-04; JA.2312); and (2) KIF's donations of tens of millions of dollars to organizations affiliated with close associates of Preston Moon. (JA.2312.)

The Contract Claims allege that UCI used hundreds of millions of dollars UCJ donated to it over decades in ways that breached UCJ's donative intent and UCI's promise to support the Church. (JA.216-19.) UCJ seeks to recover these misappropriated donations, which were derived from faithful Church members who made personal and financial sacrifices to fund UCI on the belief their contributions would benefit the purposes to which they dedicated their lives. (JA.221.)

III. Appellate History Concerning First Amendment And Abstention Issues.

Moon I. After the trial court denied their motion to dismiss, which did not raise any First Amendment defenses, Defendants successfully moved for judgment on the pleadings arguing lack of subject matter jurisdiction because of the religious abstention doctrine. (JA.355-400; JA.462-95.) This court unanimously reversed and held that Plaintiffs have special interest standing. *Moon I*, 129 A.3d at 244, 249.

As to Count II's breach of fiduciary duty claims, this court concluded that "[d]etermining . . . whether corporate assets were used in accordance with corporate laws [is] normally governed by neutral principles of law" and allegations "that corporate funds were used . . . to benefit one of the directors personally would appear readily subject to court review." *Id.* at 252-53 (emphasis added). This court also found that the Contract Claims did not require any "inquiry banned by the First Amendment" because "[a] church is always free to burden its activities voluntarily through contracts [that] are fully enforceable in civil court." *Id.* at 253 n.25. Were this court to hold that "the First Amendment precludes our civil courts from adjudicating plaintiffs' claims, then it would approach granting immunity to 'every nonprofit corporation with a religious purpose from breach of fiduciary suits . . . and prevent any scrutiny of questionable transactions." *Id.* at 253.

Moon II. In 2016, Plaintiffs moved to enjoin UCI's further dissipation of Church assets. The trial court granted the motion, holding Plaintiffs' fiduciary duty

claims were likely to succeed on the merits and that the motion "present[ed] no theological questions." (JA.506.) In 2018, this court affirmed, rejecting Defendants' religious abstention arguments because "there were no theological questions for the court to resolve." (JA.561-75 (*Moon II*).)

Moon III. In 2018, both sides moved for summary judgment on Count II's breach of fiduciary duty claims. Defendants also sought dismissal based on the First Amendment. The trial court rejected Defendants' First Amendment argument, concluding that "[a] determination can be made on neutral principles of law without any religious determinations." (JA.1167.) The trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion in substantial part, ruling that Preston Moon and the Director Defendants breached their fiduciary duties. (JA.1196-97.) The trial court also denied UCI summary judgment on the Contract Claims because of disputed fact issues on whether a contract or other enforceable promises existed based on writings, conversations, and the parties' extensive course of conduct. (JA.1190-95.)

After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court issued an Order ("Remedies Order," JA.2354-2448), finding that Preston Moon and the Director Defendants: (1) displayed "lack of care, lack of due diligence, lack of loyalty and obedience, and disregard of their fiduciary position"; (2) intentionally inflicted harm on UCI; (3) engaged in a "gross abuse of their position"; (4) "caused UCI to lose about half of its assets" and "are not interested in getting those assets back to UCI"; (5) "did not

act in good faith when they approved donations" to KIF and GPF, which were not founded, supported, or approved by Rev. Moon; and (6) gave their allegiance to "Preston's personal agenda, and not to the best interest of UCI." (JA.2419; JA.2422; JA.2426-27.) The trial court found "this case can be decided on neutral principles by looking at the transactions at issue to determine whether they were in the best interest of the corporation," rejecting Defendants' abstention arguments. (JA.2417.) The court removed Preston Moon and the Director Defendants from UCI's board and held them jointly and severally liable for nearly half a billion dollars. (JA.2446.)

In *Moon III*, this court reversed and vacated the trial court's summary judgment order and the Remedies Order based on religious abstention. *Moon III*, 281 A.3d at 51. This court declined, however, to dismiss Count II in its entirety because the trial court had not addressed Plaintiffs' self-dealing theory, which "may yet have some legs," and because Plaintiffs "have alleged what amounts to a claim of fraud and/or collusion." *Id.* at 70-71. This court emphasized that the Supreme Court has "strongly suggested" that the Exception to religious abstention exists. *Id.* Because the parties had not briefed the Exception, nor "explained what evidence (or lack thereof) underlies the self-dealing claim," this court left those matters to "the trial court to address in the first instance on remand." *Id.* This court also concluded that the Contract Claims were not before it and "remain[ed] live." *Id.* at 60 n.15.

IV. The Trial Court Dismissed All Claims Without Deciding The Exception.

Preston Moon's Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing. On January 20, 2023, Preston Moon filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing, arguing that Moon III is the law of the case and forecloses standing. On August 28, 2023, the trial court granted the motion and denied Plaintiffs' request for an evidentiary hearing on the Exception. (JA.3216-59.) The trial court justified this ruling in part by finding Moon I and two prior trial court rulings finding that Plaintiffs had standing were not law of the case. (JA.3227-34.) Preston Moon's motion did not raise prudential standing (JA.2554-67), but the trial court concluded Plaintiffs lack prudential standing, which allowed it to dismiss with prejudice. (JA.3223-27; JA.3252-59.) The trial court also sua sponte denied Plaintiffs leave to amend the Complaint, finding that it would be untimely and prejudicial even though binding precedent prohibits disposing of claims with prejudice on standing grounds without allowing leave to amend. (JA.3244-58.) The trial court again did not decide whether the Exception exists, despite Plaintiffs requesting that it do so.

Director Defendants' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. On January 25, 2023, the Director Defendants filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings, arguing Moon III bars claims based on the KIF and GPF transfers, and these transfers are not part of Count II's self-dealing claims. On July 6, 2023, the trial court granted the Director Defendants' motion by excising the KIF and GPF transfers from

Plaintiffs' self-dealing theories, reasoning that without the KIF and GPF transfers, the Complaint no longer alleged sufficient facts to state a claim for self-dealing against the Director Defendants. (JA.3158-69.) The trial court again refused to decide whether the Exception exists, saying it was "immaterial." (JA.3150.)

UCI's Motion for Summary Judgment on the Contract Claims. On January 20, 2023, UCI filed a second summary judgment motion on the Contract Claims based on Moon III's abstention rulings. On June 15, 2023, the trial court granted UCI's motion without allowing an evidentiary hearing or deciding whether the Exception exists. (JA.3121-42.) The trial court assumed there would be no facts to support the Exception, without deciding if it exists, effectively denying Plaintiffs an evidentiary hearing on the Exception. (JA.3140-41.) The trial court also found the Contract Claims were barred by Moon III, contrary to prior rulings of the trial court finding disputed issues that could be decided on neutral principles of law. (Id.)

Plaintiffs' Motion to Reopen. On February 15, 2023, Plaintiffs filed their Motion to Reopen, which requested an evidentiary hearing on the Exception and limited new discovery on Preston Moon's post-discovery statements expressing control and responsibility for a real estate project UCI transferred to KIF, contrary to his prior testimony disavowing any association with KIF. Plaintiffs also requested designation of a fraud or collusion expert, and attached a preliminary expert report of a former federal financial fraud investigator, opining on the indicia of fraud and

collusion by Defendants. (JA.2605-39 ("Tendick Report").) In its August 11, 2023 Omnibus Order, the trial court denied the Motion to Reopen in full. (JA.3214.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

- I. Facts Relevant To Self-Dealing, Fraud, And Collusion.
 - A. UCI Is A Holding Company For Church Assets, But Preston Moon Fraudulently Took Over Its Board To Seize Church Assets.

In 1977, at Rev. Moon's direction, UCI was incorporated as a District of Columbia nonprofit charitable corporation to act as the treasury to hold certain assets belonging to the Unification Church, and to disburse funds to support Unification Church activities. (JA.2372-73.) UCI is not a church and does not host religious services. (JA.2358.) Until Preston Moon fraudulently seized control of UCI's board in 2009, Rev. Moon designated all individuals to serve on UCI's board, directed how UCI distributed the funds it held for the Church, and UCI never gave money to an organization that was not founded or supported by Rev. Moon. (JA.2366; JA.2414.)

Beginning in the late 1990s, Rev. Moon appointed Preston Moon to various Church leadership positions, including co-chair of UPF, which hosted multi-day events designed to promote world peace. (JA.2360; JA.2371.) In 2006, Rev. Moon

13

² The SOF includes facts learned in discovery and summary judgment findings. This court may consider these facts on *de novo* review, *Radbod v. Moghim*, 269 A.3d 1035, 1041 (D.C. 2022), and under the standard applicable to Preston Moon's motion to dismiss without converting it to a Rule 56 motion. *See Bible Way Church of Our Lord Jesus Christ of Apostolic Faith of Washington*, *D.C. v. Beards*, 680 A.2d 419, 426 n.4 (D.C. 1996).

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