Nos. 23-CV-0836, 23-CV-0837, 23-CV-0838

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

FAMILY FEDERATION FOR WORLD PEACE AND UNIFICATION INTERNATIONAL, et al.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

HYUN JIN MOON, et al.,

Defendants-Appellees.

Appeal from Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division—Civil Actions Branch (Case No. 2011-CA-003721-B)

BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES HYUN JIN MOON, MICHAEL SOMMER, RICHARD PEREA, JINMAN KWAK, AND YOUNGJUN KIM

Michael Weitzner (D.C. No. 472505) MICHAEL WEITZNER ATTORNEY AT LAW 4916 Brandywine Street, NW Washington, D.C. 20016 Telephone: (202) 905-1172

Counsel for Defendants-Appellees Richard Perea, JinMan Kwak, and Youngjun Kim

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

Finally, Plaintiffs cannot get around all this by invoking a made-up rule that the pleadings automatically "conform to the evidence." Br. 24, 49-50. Of course, pleadings may be amended (where appropriate) to add new allegations based on newly discovered facts, but that requires an amendment under Civil Rule 15; it does not just happen by itself. *See Dartmouth Review v. Dartmouth Coll.*, 889 F.2d 13, 16 (1st Cir. 1989) ("[N]otice pleading ... is not entirely a toothless tiger."). For over a decade, Plaintiffs neglected to amend their Complaint to target the GPF or KIF donations as "self-dealing," and Judge Irving acted well within his discretion in denying their belated efforts to reshape the litigation after an appellate loss and change of counsel. *See infra*, Part V.

B. The Donations Could Not Be Recharacterized as "Self-Dealing."

There is a good reason why Plaintiffs never challenged the donations as "self-dealing"—they weren't. Self-dealing, as "a subset of breach of loyalty," *Solomon v. Armstrong*, 747 A.2d 1098, 1113 n.36 (Del. Ch. 1999), occurs when a fiduciary "appear[s] on both sides of" or "derive[s a] personal financial benefit from" a transaction that "is not substantively fair to the corporation." *Willens*, 844 A.2d at 1137 & n.13 (cleaned up). Despite four pages of trying painfully to shoehorn the donation claims into rough "self-dealing" shape (Br. 57-60), Plaintiffs get nowhere close to a viable claim.

As to KIF, Plaintiffs do not even *try* to argue that any Director was on both sides of, or otherwise derived personal financial benefits from, that donation. That is because no evidence would support such an assertion, despite years of KIF-obsessed discovery. (As explained above, and as Judge Irving appreciated, Dr. Moon's remarks lauding the Parc1 opening in no way suggest that he held any legal control over KIF. *Supra* at 34–35.) Instead, Plaintiffs invoke the discredited finding from the reversed remedies order that KIF advanced Dr. Moon's "'personal agenda," as supposedly distinct from UCP's "best interest." Br. 60. But that is the precise claim *Moon III* foreclosed. *See* 281 A.3d at 67-70. Plaintiffs seem to think deriding KIF as a "personal pursuit" or "project" suffices to transform it into "self-dealing," but those are nothing more than their stale epithets for the Directors' side of the schism. *E.g.*, JA.186 (¶ 4). A charitable donation is obviously not "self-dealing" just because those approving it believe in the cause, and *Moon III* precludes any argument that the KIF "cause" itself was illegitimate.

As to GPF, Plaintiffs note that Dr. Moon, Sommer, Kwak, and Kim held fiduciary positions in GPF (Br. 58), but that does not make out a viable self-dealing claim either. If two entities' interests are "aligned," a transaction between them poses "no conflict" for a dual fiduciary. *In re Trados Inc. Shareholder Litig.*, 73 A.3d 17, 46–47 (Del. Ch. 2013). Indeed, Dr. Moon's predecessor as President of UCI, former Plaintiff Douglas Joo, also held fiduciary roles in *The Washington Times* and the University of Bridgeport while UCI supported those entities. *See* Ds.' SJ Ex. 45 at 105-06, 133, 135. Yet it is undisputed that those donations were lawful because they furthered UCI's corporate mission. *See Moon III*, 281 A.3d at 53, 68; JA.1032. After *Moon III*, Plaintiffs can no longer argue that GPF's activities were differently situated, or deny that UCI's interests "aligned" with GPF's. Their *ipse dixit* assertions that the GPF donations "had no benefit to UCI" (Br. 59) or were "substantively unfair to UCI" (Br. 57) ultimately rest on the premise

that GPF did not advance UCI's purposes—the very premise that, per *Moon III*, the First Amendment does not allow courts to accept. 281 A.3d at 62-70. Unable to establish those propositions, Plaintiffs cannot make out a viable self-dealing claim. *See Willens*, 844 A.2d at 1136 n.13; D.C. Code § 29-406.70(a)(3).

At bottom, the fundamental problem with Plaintiffs' revisionism (beyond just being revisionism) is that relabeling the donations as "self-dealing" does not circumvent the constitutional obstacles identified by *Moon III*. A charity's fiduciaries owe loyalty to the "charity's purposes." Restatement of the Law, Charitable Nonprofit Organizations § 2.02(a) & cmt. a; *see also Macrophage Therapeutics, Inc. v. Goldberg*, 2021 WL 2582967, at *13 (Del. Ch. June 23, 2021) (requiring fidelity to "corporate purposes"). Thus, at least absent any personal financial benefit to the Directors, any "self-dealing" challenge to the KIF or GPF donations would still require this Court to review UCI's articles to determine their propriety. But if *Moon III* foreclosed anything, it was that. 281 A.3d at 62-70. "Such determinations are not permissible under the First Amendment," and that remains true no matter how Plaintiffs try to repackage the claims. *Id.* at 70.9

⁹ Contrary to what Plaintiffs try to imply, the Directors never "conced[ed]" that recharacterizing GPF and KIF as "self-dealing" would get around the First Amendment. Br. 55. Counsel's statement at oral argument that self-dealing was "an entirely different category" responded to a hypothetical about Dr. Moon using UCI's assets for naked self-enrichment, akin to the Complaint's presentation of the ¶¶ 49-51 transactions. As shown, those allegedly self-dealing transactions *were* an "entirely different category" and were not dismissed on abstention grounds. But Plaintiffs now are trying to retroactively blur the lines between "self-dealing" and their original "duty of obedience" claims, as a way to circumvent *Moon III*. That semantic maneuver does not work.

IV. AFTER MOON III, PLAINTIFFS LACK SPECIAL-INTEREST STANDING.

As to the *actual* self-dealing claims pending against Dr. Moon, Judge Irving correctly dismissed them for lack of standing. As a "general rule," members of the public have no "justiciable interest" in challenging fiduciary breaches by a charity's directors; only a public officer, as representative of the public, may do so. *Moon I*, 129 A.3d at 244. That rule "stems from the inherent impossibility of establishing a distinct justiciable interest on the part of a member of a large and constantly shifting benefited class," while protecting charities from "vexatious litigation." *Hooker*, 579 A.2d at 612.

A narrow "exception" allows private suit when a charity exists to benefit "a small class of persons" with "a distinct justiciable interest" in its mission. *Id.* at 612-13. Under *Hooker*, this "special-interest" standing requires two elements: (i) a "class of potential beneficiaries" that "is sharply defined and limited in number"; and (ii) a challenge to "an extraordinary measure threatening the existence of the trust." *Id.* at 613-15.

Under that test, *Moon III* fatally undercut Plaintiffs' ability to maintain what is left of Count II. With the KIF claim gone, the leftover "self-dealing" claims plainly do not involve any "extraordinary measure" threatening UCI's existence—as Judge Irving correctly held. Independently, *Moon III* made clear that UCI's beneficiaries are *not* "sharply defined" or "limited"—which defeats Plaintiffs' standing to press *any* fiduciary claims against *any* Directors (and is therefore yet another reason why neither a "fraud" exception nor a reimagining of their "self-dealing" claims can revive Plaintiffs' case).

A. Plaintiffs No Longer Challenge Any Extraordinary Measure.

At the pleadings stage, Plaintiffs were taken to be "challenging [the] extraordinary measure" of "fundamentally changing [UCI's] purpose" and "divest[ing] it[] from the Unification Church." *Moon I*, 129 A.3d at 245 n.18. With that theory no longer tenable, Plaintiffs now characterize the KIF donation, by itself, as the "extraordinary measure" they target. Br. 46. As explained, however, Plaintiffs no longer have any live challenge to the KIF donation: *Moon III* held that courts cannot neutrally adjudicate whether that donation "ran afoul of UCI's corporate purposes," 281 A.3d at 70; Plaintiffs never asserted a separate "self-dealing" KIF claim (*supra*, Part III.A); nor could any such claim have been (or be) brought consistent with the First Amendment (*supra*, Part III.B).

As such, Plaintiffs no longer challenge any arguably extraordinary measure. That means they lack special-interest standing under the second prong of *Hooker*'s test. *See* 579 A.2d at 614-15. Put simply, Plaintiffs cannot come to court and attack Dr. Moon's participation in the challenged transactions. Only the Attorney General could do that.

Plaintiffs cannot sidestep this standing defect by claiming that FFWPUI and UPF's standing are "law of the case" under the summary-judgment and remedies orders. Br. 45.¹⁰ At those earlier points, Plaintiffs *were* challenging arguably extraordinary measures;

¹⁰ Although "only one plaintiff needs standing" for any given claim (Br. 45 n.7), Plaintiffs do not contend that UCJ has standing to press Count II under any prior orders, as those orders only spoke to UCJ's standing "to enforce [alleged] restriction[s]" on its donations. *Moon I*, 129 A.3d at 247 n.20; JA.1174, 2410. Those are the contract claims against UCI, which are addressed by UCI's brief. *See TransUnion LLC v. Ramirez*, 594 U.S. 413, 431 (2021) ("plaintiffs must demonstrate standing for each claim").

now they are not. *Moon III* dramatically changed the scope of this litigation. Because the standing question after *Moon III* is therefore "not identical to the [standing] question previously decided," the law-of-the-case doctrine "has no application," and the matter had to be considered afresh. *Sowell v. Walker*, 755 A.2d 438, 444 (D.C. 2000). It does not matter that standing itself was "not appealed" in *Moon III*, or that *Moon III* did not "question Plaintiffs' ongoing standing." Br. 45. Plaintiffs' standing to pursue their selfdealing claims was not at issue in *Moon III* for the simple reason that *the self-dealing claims were not on appeal.* 281 A.3d at 70. It is hardly notable that this Court did not *sua sponte* inspect Plaintiffs' standing as to claims not before it. Nonetheless, the consequence of *Moon IIP*'s holdings is that Plaintiffs had no further right to press Count II.

B. Moon III Forecloses Plaintiffs' "Special Interest" in UCI's Purposes.

Plaintiffs' lack of a live KIF claim is enough to affirm the dismissal of the remaining self-dealing claims, but they are wrong to call this "[t]he only real issue." Br. 46. After *Moon III*, Plaintiffs cannot even satisfy *Hooker*'s first prong—and that is an independent basis to affirm the dismissal of Count II, whatever its remaining scope.

Under *Hooker*, special-interest standing to sue charitable directors requires "definite criteria narrowing the ... class" of potential plaintiffs and identifying its members with "particularity." 579 A.2d at 614-15. Yet, as *Moon III* acknowledged, UCI's "overtly religious" articles give no such guidance, and its history shows a "sweeping array" of widely diverse (yet all valid) donees. 281 A.3d at 52, 68-70. Thus, the idea that UCI's purposes delimit a "sharply defined," "limited" class of donees entitled to sue is no

longer tenable. *Hooker*, 579 A.2d at 614; *cf. In re Trust of Mary Baker Eddy*, 212 A.3d 414, 427 (N.H. 2019) (finding trust's "broad language" about "promoting and extending the religion of Christian Science" to be incompatible with "a small, identifiable class").

Judge Irving thought Plaintiffs could potentially define themselves into a class of "entities (1) established by Rev. Moon; (2) previously headed or directed by Dr. Moon ...; (3) that have received significant contributions from UCI over an extended period of time." JA.3239-40 & n.9. That may well describe Plaintiffs. But it overlooks that the relevant class must be clearly defined *by the charity's purposes. See Hooker*, 579 A.2d at 612-13. Hence why special-interest standing cases, as a rule, "look[] to the trust's *chartering documents* to discern the purpose of the trust." *Sagtikos Manor Hist. Soc'y, Inc. v. Robert David Lion Gardiner Found., Inc.*, 9 N.Y.S.3d 80, 82 (N.Y. App. Div. 2015) (emphasis added); *Hooker*, 579 A.2d at 615 (looking to "standards established in the [grantor's] will, the charter, and the by-laws"); Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 391 cmt. c (1959). *Hooker*'s first element is not so trivial that would-be plaintiffs can satisfy it by gerrymandering the relevant class around their own hand-picked criteria.

Here, Plaintiffs' bespoke class has no basis in UCI's documents and, if anything, rehashes impermissible religious premises. *First*, UCI's support was not limited to entities "established by Rev. Moon." *See Moon III*, 281 A.3d at 68. *Second*, it is entirely unclear how *Dr. Moon's* former positions could define the class "for whose benefit [UCI] was created." *Hooker*, 579 A.2d at 612. *Last*, as a matter of law, UCI's prior support of FFWPUI and UPF does not confer any cognizable interest in its support in the future.

Hadassah Acad. Coll. v. Hadassah Women's Zionist Org. of Am., 2018 WL 8139301, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 1, 2018) (being "past beneficiary," even to tune of "millions of dollars," is "insufficient ... to confer standing"); Robert Schalkenbach Found. v. Lincoln Found., 91 P.3d 1019, 1024 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2004) ("merely being a ... prior beneficiary" not enough). The only way to bridge that legal gap is to assume that FFWPUI and its appendages constitute "the Church" that UCI is bound to support—thus repeating the core constitutional error of the orders Moon III reversed. See 281 A.3d at 50-51, 62-70.

Indeed, to put the last nail in the "law-of-the-case" deflection, nothing is more risible than the idea that FFWPUI and UPF received past-beneficiary standing "based on neutral principles" that survive *Moon III*. Br. 45. The reversed orders found that FFWPUI had a special interest in UCI's "original purposes" because "[FFWPUI] is the Unification Church" (JA.1171) and "the main body of [Rev.] Moon's movement" (JA.2409)—both premises that *Moon III* unambiguously foreclosed as contested matters of religious polity. For its part, UPF was granted standing only "to challenge UCI's alleged diversion of funding from UPF to GPF" (JA.1174), given that GPF was "created ... as an alternative to UPF" that was "not affiliated with the Unification Church" (JA.2410). That donation claim is gone after *Moon III*, as is the underlying assumption that GPF was "not affiliated" with the true Church. 281 A.3d at 67-70.

In the end, this issue is very simple under the only law of the case that matters now: UCI has no sharply defined and numerically limited beneficiary class, and that means Plaintiffs have no standing to pursue *any* fiduciary claims against *any* Directors.

V. JUDGE IRVING DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY REFUSING TO ALLOW PLAINTIFFS TO START OVER AFTER 13 YEARS OF LITIGATION.

Plaintiffs' last gasp is to complain that Judge Irving abused his discretion by refusing to indulge their requests to either reopen discovery or let them amend their Complaint. Plaintiffs were entitled to neither. Indeed, *granting* such relief would have been an abuse of discretion, guaranteeing only further waste of time, money, and judicial resources.

As to reopening fact and expert discovery, Plaintiffs say it was necessary to explore the potential applicability of the supposed "fraud exception." Br. 75. But as explained above, Judge Irving had no occasion to reach any such exception, because he properly concluded that Plaintiffs lacked standing to pursue the only claims that survived Moon III. In all events, no "fraud exception" could help Plaintiffs here. Supra, Part II. Even putting all that aside, Plaintiffs do not meaningfully engage with Judge Irving's thorough findings negating "excusable neglect" or "good cause" to modify the scheduling order. See JA.3199-3212; Dada v. Children's Nat'l Med. Ctr., 715 A.2d 904, 908 (D.C. 1998). Plaintiffs ignore his rulings that: (i) their requests violated Civil Rule 16(b)(7)(A) ([A.3208-10], which was "fatal[]" ([A.3258); (ii) their proposed expert's opinion would be "unhelpful to the trier of fact" (JA.3208 n.9); and (iii) the consistency of Dr. Moon's testimony with his subsequent public statements "decidedly weigh[ed] against" new discovery (JA.3211). By failing to "clearly raise any challenge" to these "independent grounds," Plaintiffs "have abandoned any challenge" to the discovery order. Sapuppo v. Allstate Floridian Ins. Co., 739 F.3d 678, 680-81 (11th Cir. 2014).

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